RECEIVED, 4/1/2013 21:33:35, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-2468

Lower Tribunal Case No.: 4D10-1803, 502009CA028465

VISITING NURSE ASSOCIATION OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

JUPITER MEDICAL CENTER, INC.,

Appellee.

**ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF AN OPINION
OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL**

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

David B. Earle, Esquire
Fla. Bar No. 949108
Thomas K. Gallagher, Esquire
Florida Bar No.: 793574
John P. Carrigan, Esquire
Fla. Bar No. 068439
ROSS EARLE & BONAN, P.A.
789 S. Federal Highway, Suite 101
Stuart, Florida 34994
Telephone: (772) 287-1745
Facsimile: (772) 287-8045

STATEMENT OF USAGE

The Appellant and Claimant in the arbitration below is Visiting Nurse Association of Florida, Inc. referred to herein as “VNA.”

The Appellee and Respondent in the arbitration below is Jupiter Medical Center, Inc. referred to herein as “JMC.”

The Record on Appeal is cited herein as “R.v.x.z” with “v” representing the volume, “x” representing the page number(s), and in selected citations, the “z” further describing the material. Any Supplemental Record will follow the same format, but be designated SR.v.x.z.

The term “Award” will reference the Interim Award issued by the Arbitrators on May 20, 2009.

The term “Attorney’s Fee Award” will reference the award for attorney’s fees entered by the Arbitrators on October 7, 2009.

The term “Clarification Award” will reference the Clarification entered by the Arbitrators on November 5, 2009.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This action arises from Visiting Nurse Association of Florida, Inc.'s ("VNA") February 2005 purchase of a hospital-based home health care agency from Jupiter Medical Center, Inc. ("JMC"). At issue is whether a court must reconsider the legality of the underlying contract before enforcing an arbitration award where the contract was found to be valid. (R.1.27-40).

A. The Parties.

VNA is a Florida not-for-profit corporation which provides home health care services in a number of Florida counties, including Palm Beach County. JMC is a Florida not-for-profit corporation operating a community hospital located in Palm Beach County since the 1970's.

B. The Purchase.

During 2004, JMC and VNA entered into discussions which led to JMC's agreement to sell its wholly-owned home health care agency. (R.1.27-31). VNA found the opportunity to purchase JMC's well-established home health care business attractive. A lengthy period ensued during which due diligence was conducted. In particular, JMC shared financial information including 2005 income and expense projections for its hospital-based health care agency. (R.1.28-29). When it became clear that the parties would proceed with the purchase, JMC's outside general counsel, Timothy Monaghan, Esquire, a health care specialist

practicing in Palm Beach County, Florida, undertook the responsibility of drafting the purchase and sale documents. (R.1.29-30, 48)(SR.1.520). After closing of the purchase, the parties contemplated that the business would continue just as JMC had been conducting it for more than 20 years. (R.1.30).

C. The Documents.

The negotiations between these two long-established health care providers resulted in a multi-tiered purchase agreement, memorialized by several documents (collectively referred to as the “Agreement”). (R.1.30.FN4).

The central document was entitled “Home Health Care Agreement” (R.1.41-51) and it included provisions for the purchase price and related terms, and also an agreement that JMC would not compete with VNA. Executed simultaneously therewith were separate documents for the assumption of an off-campus lease (the “off-campus lease”) where JMC housed the bulk of its home health care operations, the creation of a lease for VNA within the hospital premises to facilitate home health care admissions, and transition-related documents for existing patients, employees and billing/accounts. (R.1.41-69). Significantly, the Home Health Care Agreement included a broad provision requiring arbitration of all disputes. (R.1.50.¶32). Neither party has challenged the validity of the arbitration provision.

Given the highly regulated nature of the home health care industry, JMC's attorney drafted the Home Health Care Agreement, and the related documents, with an eye towards compliance with federal and state law. (R.1.6-9,34)(SR.1.520). In particular, he drafted an Exhibit "D" to the Home Health Care Agreement (R.1.66)(SR.1.522) which set out procedures for the discharge of patients requiring home health care. (R.1.29-30). JMC's attorney also drafted contractual language confirming the parties' intent that the Agreement be construed consistently with all governing regulatory statutes and rules. (R.1.49.¶28). JMC's attorney also prepared a hospital-based "office lease" which provided space for VNA's admission coordinators within the hospital's premises. (R.1.29,67-69). These admission coordinators were allowed to have access to JMC's discharge planners. (R.1.67-69). This mirrored the long-time practice of JMC's home health agency and it was considered a material part of the transaction. (R.1.35-36). The office lease included a market value rental payment. (R.1.67-69).

During the course of the negotiations, JMC's attorney had an appraisal conducted of the existing home health agency. (R.1.29). To avoid any suggestion that the transaction constituted a payment for referrals, and as a result of that appraisal, the purchase price was actually raised. (R.1.29).

In February of 2005, the purchase closed. (R.1.30,41). VNA paid the purchase price, assumed or undertook the various leases, hired most of the JMC's

home health agency employees, moved VNA's admissions coordinator into leased space in the hospital and commenced providing home health care to discharged patients referred to VNA. (R.1.29-31). JMC surrendered its home health agency license. (R.1.30). The parties intended the transition to be seamless. (R.1.30)(SR.1.522).

D. The Breach.

After a period of time, VNA's employees began to perceive actions by JMC's employees that were contrary to the terms of the Agreement. (R.1.31). These actions included a complete disregard of the discharge protocol outlined in Exhibit "D" and the gradual reduction (and eventual elimination) of access between VNA's admission coordinators and JMC's discharge planners. (R.1.31-33). VNA's initial attempts to amicably resolve these matters directly with JMC's representatives were unsuccessful. (R.1.31-33). Instead, on September 10, 2007, JMC sent VNA a letter which essentially nullified the Agreement and evicted VNA from its leased space inside the hospital. (R.1.33-34).

E. The Arbitration.

As a result of JMC's actions, VNA ceased payment of the off-campus lease and vacated those premises. (R.1.32-34). On October 15, 2007, VNA filed an arbitration claim for breach of contract with the American Arbitration Association ("AAA"). (R.2.259). JMC never challenged the validity of the arbitration

provision. Instead, JMC responded to the AAA claim by denying it and seeking an award of attorney's fees and costs for defending. (R.2.262). Separately, however, JMC filed an action for damages in the Circuit Court for Palm Beach County solely directed towards VNA's alleged breach of the off-campus lease, which had been assumed as part of the purchase transaction. (SR.1.528). The Circuit Court granted VNA's motion to compel arbitration because the off-campus lease was deemed an integral part of the underlying contract subject to the arbitration agreement. (SR.1.528). JMC did not appeal the order compelling arbitration. Rather, JMC amended its arbitration pleadings to include a counter-claim for damages regarding the off-campus lease. (SR.1.528).

After a period of document exchange, discovery and depositions, in February of 2009, a three-member Panel of the American Arbitration Association (the "Panel") received evidence, including live testimony, at a hearing held in Palm Beach Gardens, Florida. (R.1.28). The parties filed written closing arguments after conclusion of the hearing. At no time leading up to the final hearing, nor during the final hearing itself, did JMC contend the Agreement was illegal, invalid or contrary to public policy. (R.2.280-281)(SR.1.545-46). Instead, during the arbitration, JMC specifically acknowledged the agreement was legal. (SR.1.533,542-43,545-46).

On May 20, 2009, the Panel issued an Award (R.1.27-40) finding that JMC breached the Agreement by: (a) failing to follow the specific procedures set forth in Exhibit “D” as drafted by JMC’s attorney; and, perhaps more importantly, (b) by improperly “evicting” VNA from its leased space in the hospital. (R.1.34-36). The Panel awarded damages in the sum of \$1,251,213.00 to VNA, along with prejudgment interest at the legal rate established by Florida law, and reserved jurisdiction to consider an award of attorneys fees and costs. (R.1.39). The only remaining issue for the Panel after entry of the Award was a determination of the collateral issue of attorney’s fees and costs to be awarded to VNA. (R.1.39). The Panel expressly stated that the Award was “in full settlement of all claims on the merits submitted to this arbitration.” (R.1.40).

F. The Reconsideration.

JMC timely filed a Motion for Rehearing/Reconsideration with the Arbitration Panel after entry of the Award. (R.2.264-77). Thereafter, JMC filed a Motion to Re-Open the Arbitration which, for the first time, raised issues of illegality. These arguments of illegality were directed at the Award itself and the Panel’s interpretation of the Agreement, rather than the underlying Agreement. (R.2.278-91).

From the inception of the Agreement (and its various components) until the time the Award was entered against JMC, neither party contended the Agreement

itself was illegal. (SR.1.533,542-43,545-46). Indeed, both parties relied upon its legality and enforceability primarily based upon their respective knowledge of this highly regulated industry, and through JMC's attorney's efforts, draftsmanship and execution. (SR.1.522,533,542-43,545-46). During the arbitration hearing, the Panel specifically asked JMC's counsel whether JMC was challenging the legality of the Agreement, and JMC's counsel acknowledged the Agreement was a legal document. (SR.1.533, 542-43, 545-46). It wasn't until June of 2009: more than four (4) years after accepting the benefits of the purchase and sale transaction; slightly less than two (2) years after an arbitration had been filed; more than a year after the off-campus lease lawsuit filed by JMC had been referred to the pending arbitration; after completion of the arbitration proceedings, including a final hearing with live testimony; after the filing of post-hearing briefs; and, after a \$1,251,213.00 Award had been entered against it; that JMC hired new legal counsel and raised (for the very first time) an argument of illegality (but directed it at the Award, rather than the Agreement itself). VNA contends this was done solely to avoid the significant damage award entered against JMC. (R.2.278-91).

The Panel considered JMC's motions for rehearing/reconsideration and to re-open the arbitration, but it eventually denied those motions. (R.2.308). The Panel specifically responded that it had previously considered issues regarding illegality in determining the Award. (R.2.308).

G. The Federal Court Action.

On July 31, 2009, JMC filed a petition with the federal District Court for the Southern District of Florida seeking to vacate the Award. (R.2.313-17). The arguments raised were the same as raised in the prior motion to re-open denied by the Panel. As to subject matter jurisdiction, JMC urged the federal court to vacate the Award based upon a “federal” question and claimed the Award violated federal Medicare and Medicaid laws. VNA filed a motion to dismiss and the matter was fully briefed by the parties in accordance with the local rules of the federal court. On November 24, 2009, Judge William Dimitrouleas dismissed JMC’s petition because of a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. (R.2.313-17). In doing so, the federal judge determined a substantial federal question did not exist. Even though JMC sought federal intervention by arguing the underlying contract, as construed by the arbitrators, violated federal anti-kickback laws which necessarily would invoke federal jurisdiction, Judge Dimitrouleas held JMC’s claim of illegality was nothing more than a direct challenge to the Panel’s “interpretation and construction” of the Agreement, which was a matter of state law. (R.2.315-17).

H. The State Trial Court Action.

Without providing notice to VNA or the federal court (which was considering issues of subject matter jurisdiction), JMC also filed a motion to vacate the Award in the Circuit Court of Palm Beach County. (R.1.1-26). The state court

action was filed on Friday, August 21, 2009; exactly 93 days after the May 20, 2009 Award. (R.1.1). On December 8, 2009 (after the federal court dismissed JMC's petition), JMC amended its motion to vacate, and it served VNA with a summons on December 10, 2009. (R.2.318). The amended motion was, in all material respects, the same as the original. (R.1.118-44). The grounds mirror the arguments made to both the Panel and the federal court. So, VNA responded with another motion to dismiss. (R.2.234-318). Given the state court setting, VNA also filed a motion to confirm the Award. (R.2.319-49). By this time, VNA had received an award from the Panel on the collateral issue of attorney's fees and costs (the "Attorney's Fees Award"). (R.1.159-62). A one-hour hearing was scheduled in Palm Beach County Circuit Court to hear all outstanding motions. The hearing took place on March 30, 2010. The parties had a full opportunity to brief and present any issues desired. (SR.1.515). After hearing arguments from counsel and considering the issues raised, the Circuit Court granted VNA's motion to dismiss, confirmed the Award and retained jurisdiction to award further attorney's fees and costs. (R.3.505-508)(SR.1.569-72).

I. The Fourth District Appeal.

On April 28, 2010, JMC timely filed its appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (R.3.509-14). Both parties fully briefed the issues. On September 14, 2011, the Fourth District rendered its opinion holding that Florida Courts should

not enforce an arbitrator's award until the Court resolves any claims regarding the legality of the underlying contract. *Jupiter Medical Center, Inc. v. Visiting Nurse Association of Florida, Inc.*, 72 So.3d 184, 187 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011). Believing the decision to be a departure from the Florida Supreme Court's prior rulings, and to be in conflict with other cases from the Fourth District Court of Appeal itself, VNA timely filed a Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing *En Banc*. VNA also filed a Notice of Supplemental Authority which disclosed a conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Fourth District Court of Appeal eventually denied the rehearing motions without opinion.

J. The Petition for Review.

On December 6, 2011, VNA timely sought discretionary review in this Court asserting that the Fourth District opinion conflicts with the decisions of the United States Supreme Court, the Florida Supreme Court and the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Florida Supreme Court accepted discretionary jurisdiction on March 7, 2013 to review the instant case as an appeal from the Fourth District's opinion that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another district court of appeal. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether an arbitrator can determine the legality of a contract as a whole, or whether that determination is left for judicial review, is a pure question of law, subject to de novo review. *See Shotts v. OP Winter Haven, Inc.*, 86 So.3d 456, 461 (Fla. 2011).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The primary issue is whether the Fourth District Court of Appeal erred when it held the trial court must consider the legality of an underlying commercial contract before enforcing an arbitration award in which the arbitrators determined the contract to be enforceable and valid.

The United States Supreme Court, the Florida Supreme Court, and various appellate courts in Florida have held that the decision as to the legality of the contract, as a whole, is for the arbitrator. *Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna*, 546 U.S. 440 (2006); *Cardegna v. Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc.*, 930 So.2d 610 (Fla. 2006); *Felger v. Mock*, 65 So.3d 625 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011); *Commercial Interiors Corporation of Boca Raton v. Pinkerton & Laws, Inc.*, 19 So.3d 1062 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009). Conversely, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held, in the underlying case, that it is for the court, not the arbitrator, to determine the issue of the legality of the contract before enforcing an arbitration award. *Jupiter Medical Center, Inc. v. Visiting Nurse Association of Florida, Inc.*, 72 So.3d 184, 187 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011). The Fourth District Court of Appeal failed to consider *Buckeye* and its progeny, and instead primarily relied on cases in which an arbitrator's determination of a contract's validity was not an issue (most did not deal with arbitration at all). The Fourth District's requirement that parties to a valid arbitration agreement re-litigate the validity of the underlying contract in

court following a full arbitration hearing, which construed and ruled upon the underlying contract, extinguishes the benefits of arbitration and is contrary to the law. It should be reversed. Such a procedure transforms arbitration into a meaningless additional step in a lengthy and expensive litigation process.

Moreover, throughout the entire arbitration process leading up to the Award, JMC never challenged the legality of the contract itself. Rather, JMC specifically stated the contract was legal and compliant with the law. JMC's specific, knowing acknowledgement of the contract's legitimacy undermines its arguments to vacate the Award because it makes clear that JMC's attack is directed to the arbitrators' decision-making which is impermissible under the law.

The Fourth District did not expressly address VNA's argument that JMC's initial state court motion to vacate, filed 93 days after the Award, is procedurally defective. Pursuant to Section 682.13(2), Florida Statutes, a motion to vacate must be filed no later than 90 days after entry of the award.

Finally, the Fourth District did not address the public policy that underlies the arbitration process. Here, the Panel determined that the underlying contract is legal. JMC is challenging the Panel's construction of that contract. The Fourth District erroneously ruled that the ultimate decision on contract construction and validity is for the courts, not the arbitrators. This decision ignores the long standing public policy supporting arbitration as an efficient and less expensive

means of resolving disputes. Permitting a disgruntled participant in arbitration to challenge an underlying contract's legality, after the arbitrators have determined such issues, is contrary to public policy embodied in the growing body of arbitration law and the federal and Florida arbitration statutes.

ARGUMENT

In Florida, a contract involving interstate commerce that includes an arbitration agreement or clause is subject to the Florida Arbitration Code (“FAC”) to the extent the Florida statutory scheme is not in conflict with the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”). *See Shotts v. OP Winter Haven, Inc.*, 86 So.3d 456, 463-464 (Fla. 2011). Under both federal and Florida law, legal challenges involving arbitration agreements have generally taken two distinct forms; each with a decidedly different path. One type of challenge is directed to the validity of an agreement to arbitrate; or, more simply stated, a specific challenge to an arbitration clause. The other is a challenge to the contract as a whole; either on grounds that affect the entire agreement (such as legality) or on grounds that a particular provision renders the whole contract invalid. *See Buckeye Check Cashing v. Cardegna*, 546 U.S. 440, 444 (2006). An essential distinction between these two types of challenges is the question of “who” decides: the Court or the Arbitrator. In cases involving a challenge solely directed to the validity of an arbitration clause, Florida law requires a court determination. *See Shotts, supra*. However, where the challenge is directed to the contract as a whole, it is the arbitrator who decides. *Cardegna v. Buckeye Check Cashing*, 930 So.2d 610, 611 (Fla. 2006)(adopting the U.S. Supreme Court’s determination noted above). Thus, the *Buckeye* rationale – that it is an arbitrator, rather than a Court, who determines the underlying legality

of a contract – governs under both the FAA and the FAC. *See Charles Boyd Construction, Inc. v. Vacation Beach, Inc.* 959 So.2d 1227, 1231-32 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007)(FAA and the FAC are “virtually” identical).

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