RECEIVED, 4/22/2013 19:58:32, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-2468

L.T. CASE NO. 4D10-1803, 502009-CA-028465XXXXMB

VISITING NURSE ASSOCIATION OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Appellant,

vs.

JUPITER MEDICAL CENTER, INC.,

Appellee,

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF
APPELLEE JUPITER MEDICAL CENTER, INC.

On Discretionary Review Of An Opinion
from the Fourth District Court of Appeals

Michael G. Austin (FBN 457205)
michael.austin@dlapiper.com

Matthew D. Grosack (FBN 73811)
matthew.grosack@dlapiper.com

DLA PIPER LLP (US)
200 S. Biscayne Blvd., Ste. 2500
Miami, Florida 33131
Tel. 305.423.8500
Fax. 305.675.6207

*Counsel for Appellee Jupiter

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The well founded 4th DCA Opinion in the instant case does not conflict with the U.S. Supreme Court decision in Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna, 546 U.S. 440 (2006). Contrary to VNA’s arguments regarding the purported scope and application of the Buckeye decision, the actual holding in Buckeye was that where a party is attempting to avoid the arbitration process at the inception of a case by challenging the “validity of the contract as a whole, and not specifically to the arbitration clause,” then it is the arbitrator (not the court) who must consider the challenge to the validity of the contract “in the first instance.” See Buckeye, 546

U.S. at 445-446 (emphasis added). The Buckeye decision does not stand for the sweeping proposition that Florida courts will always be compelled to automatically judicially confirm, enforce and condone an arbitrator's facially illegal arbitration award based upon an illegal construction of the underlying contract. Likewise, the Buckeye decision does not stand for the proposition that Florida courts are barred from ever considering the "illegality" of an arbitration award prior to the judicial confirmation/enforcement of such an award.

As acknowledged in the 4th DCA Opinion, based upon deeply rooted and firmly established legal principles, "Florida cases indicate a broad refusal to aid the enforcement of illegal contracts," and "courts will not enforce illegal contracts." See 4th DCA Opinion at 186. Thus, since arbitration is a "creature of contract," the Buckeye decision clearly did not eliminate a Florida court's inalienable powers, rights and obligations to refuse to judicially enforce illegal arbitration awards based upon illegal contractual obligations. VNA erroneously suggests that Florida courts are essentially powerless to address serious illegality issues once an arbitrator issues the arbitration award, however, the governing law dictates that Florida courts have the power and ability to properly address legitimate illegality issues, and to avoid judicially condoning/enforcing illegal arbitration awards based on illegal contracts.

First, as set forth in the 4th DCA Opinion, based upon unalienable and deeply rooted legal principles in both state and federal law, Florida courts will not enforce illegal arbitration awards based on an arbitrator's illegal construction of the underlying contract in violation of well-defined and specified laws. The face of the Award in the instant case illustrates that it is in direct violation of multiple state and federal healthcare fraud and anti-kickback laws and regulations, and cannot be judicially enforced.

Second, the illegal Award must also be vacated because the Arbitration Panel "exceeded their powers" under Fla. Stat. 618.13(1)(c) by construing the contract in violation of the Governing Healthcare Laws/Regulations.

Finally, the record is clear that there was no procedural defect with respect to JMC's timely filed motion to vacate the illegal Award.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. THE WELL FOUNDED RULINGS IN THE 4TH DCA OPINION DO NOT CONFLICT WITH THE MORE LIMITED RULINGS IN THE HIGHLY DISTINGUISHABLE BUCKEYE DECISIONS.

As the primary argument for this appeal, VNA attempts to rely upon the U.S. Supreme Court decision in Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna, 546 U.S. 440 (2006) to erroneously contend that a Florida court may never (at any point in the process) address or rectify the fundamental *illegality* of an arbitration award based upon an arbitrator's facially illegal construction of an underlying

contract and the imposition of illegal contractual obligations upon the parties. According to VNA’s overly simplistic and non-nuanced argument, regardless of the unique legal and factual circumstances in a specific case, Florida courts will *always* be compelled to automatically confirm, enforce and condone a *facially illegal arbitration award* based upon an illegal construction of the underlying contract and which seeks to impose illegal contractual obligations upon the parties.

Contrary to VNA’s arguments, the U.S. Supreme Court decision in Buckeye does not stand for that sweeping, illogical and draconian proposition, and such a proposition is entirely inconsistent with the actual governing law and with some of the most fundamental and bedrock legal principles in our judicial system. In fact, the law is clear that the judiciary *cannot* simply turn a blind eye to an illegal contract or illegal arbitration award as VNA suggests, and the judiciary has an “affirmative duty” to refuse to enforce any illegal arbitration award based on illegal contractual obligations.¹³

As reflected in the Initial Brief, the core of VNA’s misguided argument is that the 4th DCA purportedly “failed to consider *Buckeye* and its progeny” by ruling that the trial court must determine the illegality issue “before enforcing an arbitration award.” See Initial Brief at 18 (citing *Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v.*

¹³ See *Gonzalez v. Trujillo*, 179 So. 2d 896, 897 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965); *Robineau v. De Long*, 109 So. 636, 640 (Fla. 1926); *Local No. 234 v. Henley & Beckwith, Inc.*, 66 So. 2d 818, 821 (Fla. 1953)

Cardegna, 546 U.S. 440 (2006); Cardegna v. Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc., 930 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 2006) (these two related decisions are referred to herein as the “Buckeye Decisions”). In attempting to advance its argument, VNA inaccurately summarizes (and mischaracterizes) the holdings of the Buckeye Decisions as follows: “[t]he United States Supreme Court, the Florida Supreme Court, and various appellate courts in Florida have held that the decision as to legality of the contract, as a whole, is for the arbitrator.” See Initial Brief at 18. While this recitation of the holding from the Buckeye Decisions is partially correct, it is incomplete, inaccurate and inherently misleading for purposes of the relevant issues in instant dispute.

In actuality, the holding in Buckeye was that where a party is attempting to avoid the arbitration process at the *inception* of a case by challenging the “validity of the contract as a whole, and not specifically to the arbitration clause,” then it is the arbitrator (not the court) who must consider the challenge to the validity of the contract “*in the first instance.*” See Buckeye, 546 U.S. at 445-446 (emphasis added) (explaining that “unless the challenge is to the arbitration clause itself, the issue of the contract’s validity is considered by the arbitrator *in the first instance.*”) (emphasis added).¹⁴ Of critical importance here, a review of the

¹⁴ See also Shotts v. OP Winter Haven, Inc., 86 So. 3d 456, 463 (Fla. 2012) (“[t]he Court in Buckeye articulated three key principles to guide courts in reviewing
(continued...)”)

Buckeye Decisions illustrate that they do not stand for the sweeping proposition that a Florida court is barred from ever considering the “illegality” of an arbitration award prior to the judicial confirmation/enforcement of such an award (i.e., in the “second instance” or at some point after the award is issued before confirmation), nor do they stand for the proposition that a trial court must automatically condone and enforce an illegal arbitration award based upon an illegal contract and illegal contractual obligations. The Buckeye Decisions simply do not support such propositions, and VNA’s reliance upon the Buckeye Decisions is misplaced.

Unlike the instant case where the 4th DCA was considering the issue of the illegality of the Award after the completion of the arbitration process, and after the issuance of the facially illegal arbitration Award which VNA was asking the Court to judicially condone and enforce, the Buckeye Decisions were dealing with the highly distinguishable and inapposite situation where one party was opposing the other party’s motion to compel arbitration at the inception of the dispute (i.e., pre-arbitration)¹⁵ by arguing that the underlying contracts and/or certain provisions of

challenges to arbitration agreements . . . unless the challenge is to the arbitration clause itself, the issue of the contract’s validity is considered by the arbitrator in the first instance.”) (emphasis added).

¹⁵ The other cases relied upon by VNA to support a purported “conflict” argument are also clearly inapposite dealing with motions to compel arbitration, and they do not deal with situations, such as the instant case, where the illegality issue is being raised after the completion of the arbitration process. CFC of Delaware LLC v. Santalucia, 91 So. 3d 899 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012) (addressing trial court’s denial of a
(continued...)

the contracts (other than the arbitration provisions) were invalid, unconscionable or otherwise unenforceable.¹⁶

The Buckeye Decisions did not deal with a situation, such as the instant case, where *after* the completion of the arbitration process, a party (such as JMC) is properly challenging the proposed ***judicial enforcement*** of the facially illegal arbitration Award based upon a contract which, as construed by the arbitrators, is illegal/criminal in nature. See 4th DCA Opinion at 185 (“the issue before this court is whether the trial court erred in not considering the contract's legality ***before ordering enforcement of the arbitral award.***”) (emphasis added). The Buckeye Decisions likewise did not deal with a situation where the arbitrators were purporting to impose illegal/criminal contractual obligations upon the parties to the contract, and one party (VNA) was asking a Florida court to judicially condone and enforce an illegal arbitration award based upon an illegal contract and illegal contractual obligations. As explained in the extensive case law set forth below and

motion to compel arbitration); ATP Flight School, LLC v. Sax, 44 So. 3d 248 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012) (same); Charles Boyd Construction, Inc. v. Vacation Beach, Inc., 959 So. 2d 1227 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007) (same); Roman v. Atlantic Coast Construction and Development, Inc., 44 So. 3d 222 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010) (same); Alterra Healthcare Corp v. Bryant, 937 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) (same).

¹⁶ See Buckeye Check Cashing, 824 So. 2d. 228, 232 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (“we reverse the trial court’s order denying appellant’s ***motion to compel arbitration*** and remand this cause for further proceedings” because “appellees did not argue that they did not enter into the arbitration agreement, nor did they challenge the validity of the terms of the arbitration agreement.”) (emphasis added).

as acknowledged in the 4th DCA Opinion, arbitration is a “creature of contract,” and the Buckeye Decisions did not eliminate a Florida court’s inalienable powers, rights and obligations to refuse to judicially enforce *illegal* arbitration awards based upon *illegal* contractual obligations (which cannot be lawfully enforced or judicially condoned by a Florida court).

The fundamental flaw in VNA’s argument can be illustrated by use of a simple hypothetical. Specifically, based upon the logical extension of VNA’s argument regarding the scope and implications of the Buckeye Decisions, unscrupulous parties could knowingly enter into contracts involving illegal and unlawful subject matter (such as contracts for the sale/purchase of illegal drugs or for illegal gambling arrangements), and the parties could include an arbitration provision along with a provision restricting either party from challenging the legality of the contract and restricting the arbitrator from invalidating the contract based upon illegality grounds. The parties could then utilize the contractually agreed upon arbitration process to insulate themselves from any judicial accountability, and to obtain judicially enforceable arbitration awards relating to the unlawful subject matter of the illegal contract. After the issuance of the arbitration award, given the absence of any specific statutory basis under Fla. Stat. § 682.13 to serve as the basis to vacate the illegal arbitration award, the parties could then move for immediate confirmation/enforcement of the illegal arbitration

award, and thereby force a Florida court to become directly complicit in the wrongdoing by entering a judicial order confirming/enforcing the illegal arbitration award (which would result in the arbitration award having full force and effect of the laws of Florida). Under such a hypothetical, while there would be no specific statutory basis under Fla. Stat. § 682.13 to rely upon to vacate the illegal arbitration award, it is clear that a Florida court must have the power to refuse to judicially condone and enforce such an illegal arbitration award based upon an illegal contract. In addition to the arguments above, the Buckeye Decisions also did not impact a trial court's power to determine whether an arbitration panel "exceeded their powers" by issuing an illegal award based upon an illegal contractual construction and/or mandating the performance of an illegal act. Accordingly, contrary to VNA's self-serving arguments, the well founded 4th DCA Opinion is completely consistent with and fully reconcilable with the Buckeye Decisions.

II. VNA'S RELIANCE UPON THE COMMERCIAL INTERIORS AND FELGER DECISIONS IS MISPLACED.

In the Initial Brief, VNA also attempts to rely upon several post-Buckeye decisions including Commercial Interiors Corp. of Boca Raton v. Pinkerton & Laws, Inc., 19 So. 3d 1062 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), and Felger v. Mock, 65 So. 3d 625 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011). Despite VNA's misplaced reliance on these purportedly similar cases, a review of Commercial Interiors and Felger demonstrate such cases are materially distinguishable, and are not instructive in the instant case.

The Commercial Interiors case dealt with an entirely different factual and procedural situation, and the limited analysis provided by the Fifth District Court of Appeals is not instructive. In Commercial Interiors, the parties had entered into “two subcontracts” relating to the provision of certain basic design and construction work for a property, and the plaintiff was seeking to recover \$51,209 from the defendant “for work done under the subcontracts.” Commercial Interiors, 19 So. 3d at 1063. The parties submitted their dispute to arbitration, and in the arbitration proceeding, the defendant filed a motion to dismiss “asserting that [plaintiff] was not entitled to recover any amount under the subcontracts because the subcontracts were themselves illegal,” and “[defendant] alleged accordingly that it was relieved of the obligation to pay any amount to [plaintiff] because [plaintiff] ***did not have a contractor’s license.***” Id. at 1063 (emphasis added). Thus, with respect to the limited “illegality” defense raised in the Commercial Interiors case, the defendant was seeking to avoid paying for services rendered by making an argument that the plaintiff “did not have a contractor’s license” which should invalidate the underlying subcontracts. Id.

Unlike the illegality issue raised in Commercial Interiors, JMC is not merely contending that VNA did not have some type of requisite license which could invalidate the parties’ otherwise lawful contract. To the contrary, JMC’s illegality argument relates to entire foundation of the parties’ contractual relationship as set

forth in the Arbitration Panel’s illegal Award, itself, and the fundamental illegality issues raised in the instant case relate to potential serious criminal violations of numerous federal and state healthcare laws and regulations. In the instant case, the Panel’s illegal Award imposes illegal contractual obligations upon the parties, which is a circumstance that was not present in Commercial Interiors. Furthermore, unlike the defendant in Commercial Interiors, JMC is not attempting to evade contractually agreed upon payment obligations for services rendered and work done. To the contrary, JMC has raised the illegality issue to ensure that it is not unlawfully penalized for having complied with the governing healthcare laws and regulations, and to prevent the Panel from imposing illegal/criminal contractual obligations upon the parties.

Additionally, in Commercial Interiors, the limited defense of the potential illegality of the parties’ underlying contract was the *direct* subject of the underlying arbitration proceeding, and the parties had a specific “evidentiary hearing” where “the arbitrator properly considered the illegality of the subject contract in the ‘first instance.’” Id. at 1064. In the instant case, the serious illegality issue did not arise until *after* the Arbitration Panel illegally construed the language of the parties’ Purchase Agreement in such a manner to create an illegal and unlawful contractual relationship, and to impose blatantly illegal contractual obligations upon the parties. Because JMC was relying upon its understanding of

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